NO. 71325-6

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEPHEN AND SANDRA KLINEBURGER,

Respondents/Cross-Appellants,

v.

KING COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES BUILDING AND FIRE SERVICES DIVISION CODE ENFORCEMENT SECTION, and STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY'S OPENING BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

THOMAS J. YOUNG Senior Counsel WSBA #17366 P.O. Box 40117 Olympia, WA 98504-0117 (360) 586-4608 Email: Tomy@atg.wa.gov

II.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR				
III.	ISSUES3				
IV.	STA	ATE	MENT OF THE CASE4		
	A.		e Klineburger Lot Is Located In The Floodway And annel Migration Zone Of The Snoqualmie River4		
	В.	Do	ology And The County Determined That The Site es Not Meet The Criteria In WAC 173-158-076 For sidential Development In The Floodway		
	C.	Not	e County Also Concluded That The Klineburgers Did t Meet FEMA's Requirements To Change The odway		
	D.		e Hearing Examiner Denied the Klineburgers' Appeal The Superior Court Reversed		
V.	AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT15				
	A.	Floodplains Are Regulated At The Federal, State, And Local Level			
	В.	The Superior Court Failed To Apply The Proper Standard Of Review And Erroneously Reversed Ecology's Findings And Recommendation			
		1.	Standard of review19		
		2.	None of the grounds for relief in the statute exist21		
		3.	The flood depth criterion is not met21		
		4.	The erosion criterion is not met because the property is located in the channel migration zone23		

		5. The flood warning criterion is not met25
	C.	The Superior Court Erred To The Extent It Concluded That The Property Is Not In The Regulatory Floodway27
VI.	CC	NCLUSION29

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

City of Mercer Island v. Steinmann, 9 Wn. App. 479, 513 P.2d 80 (1973)
Cradduck v. Yakima Cnty., 166 Wn. App. 435, 271 P.3d 289 (2012)
Fitzpatrick v. Okanogan Cnty., 143 Wn. App. 288, 177 P.3d 716 (2008)
HJS Dev., Inc. v. Pierce Cnty., 148 Wn.2d 451, 61 P.3d 1141 (2003)
Humbert/Birch Creek Constr. v. Walla Walla Cnty., 145 Wn. App. 185, 185 P.3d 660 (2008)
Maple Leaf Investors, Inc. v. Dep't of Ecology, 88 Wn.2d 726, 565 P.2d 1162 (1977)
Olympic Stewardship Found. v. W. Wash. Growth Management Hearings Bd., 166 Wn. App. 172, 274 P.3d 1040 (2012)
Phoenix Dev., Inc. v. City of Woodinville, 171 Wn.2d 820, 256 P.3d 1150 (2011)
Powers v. Skagit Cnty., 67 Wn. App. 180, 835 P.2d 230 (1992)
Quality Rock Prod., Inc. v. Thurston Cnty., 139 Wn. App. 125, 159 P.3d 1 (2007)
Satsop Valley Homeowners Ass'n v. Nw. Rock, 126 Wn. App. 536, 108 P.3d 1247 (2005)
State ex. rel. Miller v. Cain, 40 Wn.2d 216, 242 P.2d 505 (1952)

Statutes

RCW 36.70C.130
RCW 36.70C.130(1)
RCW 86.16
RCW 86.16.010
RCW 86.16.031(1)
RCW 86.16.031(6)
RCW 86.16.031(8)
RCW 86.16.041
RCW 86.16.041(4)
RCW 86.16.051
Other Authorities
KCC 21A.06.181E
KCC 21A.06.181G
KCC 21A.06.182
KCC 21A.24.260G
Regulations
44 C.F.R. § 59.1
44 C.F.R. § 59.2
44 C.F.R. § 59.2(b)
44 C.F.R. § 60.3

44 C.F.R. § 60.3(d)(3)
44 C.F.R. § 60.3(d)(4)
44 C.F.R. § 65.12
44 C.F.R. § 65.5
44 C.F.R. § 65.5(b)
44 C.F.R. § 65.6
44 C.F.R. § 65.7
44 C.F.R. § 65.7(b)(4)(i)
44 C.F.R. § 9.4
WAC 173-158-030
WAC 173-158-076
WAC 173-158-076(1)
WAC 173-158-076(1)(a)
WAC 173-158-076(1)(b)
WAC 173-26-221(3)(b)

I. INTRODUCTION

As the recent landslide near Oso illustrates, residential construction in hazardous areas can lead to catastrophic damages and loss of life. The Klineburgers here propose to place a residence (a mobile home) in a hazardous area: the floodway of the Snoqualmie River. Under state law, RCW 86.16.041, residential construction in floodways is generally A limited exception to this law permits residential prohibited. construction in floodways if the Department of Ecology assesses the risk of harm to life and property and recommends that the construction be permitted pursuant to the factors in WAC 173-158-076. In this case, Ecology recommended against the Klineburgers' proposal because the WAC factors are not met: (1) the local government, King County (County), does not have a flood warning system applicable to the site; (2) the Klineburgers' own analysis shows that flood depths on a portion of the site will exceed three feet; and (3) the site is located in the channel migration zone of the River, i.e., in an area where the river channel may move over time. The King County Hearing Examiner relied on this recommendation in denying the Klineburgers' appeal of a code enforcement action taken against them by the County.

On appeal to King County Superior Court by the Klineburgers under the Land Use Petition Act (LUPA), the court overturned the Hearing

Examiner's decision and ordered the County to process a building permit application for the site. In doing so, the superior court committed at least two errors. First, the superior court failed to apply the proper standard of review. The superior court essentially disregarded the WAC criteria and substituted its judgment for Ecology's as to whether the mobile home should be allowed. The superior court concluded, for example, that it did not matter that the County did not have a flood warning system applicable to the property. The superior court also concluded that it did not matter that the property is located in the channel migration zone. Both of these conclusions are erroneous under WAC 173-158-076.

Second, the superior court appears to have concluded that the Klineburger property is not fully subject to regulation under RCW 86.16, because it is allegedly protected from flooding by an adjacent road. This conclusion is erroneous because state law is clear that the federal mapping of the floodway is determinative as to the applicability of the state floodway prohibition, and the federal map unequivocally identifies the property as in the floodway. The court had no jurisdiction in the LUPA proceeding to alter the federal map. The superior court decision should be reversed and the Hearing Examiner decision affirmed.

¹ The County identifies a third error: that the court did not have jurisdiction to review Ecology's recommendation. Ecology agrees with the County's argument but, to avoid duplication, does not further address it in this brief. For purposes of this brief, Ecology assumes the court had jurisdiction to review Ecology's recommendation.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The superior court erred in remanding the matter to King County with instructions to process a permit application for the mobile home and to regard the criteria in WAC 173-158-076 as met. CP 158. (Issue No. 1).
- 2. The superior court erred in entering Findings of Fact (FF) Nos. 1–4, and 6–8. CP 155–57 (Issue No. 1).
- 3. The superior court erred in concluding that 428th Avenue S.E. acts as a flood management device and that the Klineburgers' lot does not need to be reserved because there was no evidence that floodwaters have ever entered onto his lot. CP 157 (Issue No. 2).

III. ISSUES

- 1. Was the Hearing Examiner's decision to deny the mobile home supported by substantial evidence and consistent with law when (1) the evidence is undisputed that the County lacks a warning system applicable to the property; (2) the evidence is undisputed that the property lies in the channel migration zone of the Snoqualmie River; and (3) there is substantial evidence from the Klineburgers' own consultant that flood depths on a portion of the property exceed three feet?
- Did the superior court err to the extent it concluded that
 RCW 86.16 did not apply to the property when the statute states that the

"basis for state and local floodplain management shall be the areas designated as special flood hazard areas on the most recent maps provided by the federal emergency management agency [FEMA] "?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Klineburger Lot Is Located In The Floodway And Channel Migration Zone Of The Snoqualmie River

The Klineburgers' lot is located in the mapped floodway² and channel migration zone³ of the Snoqualmie River near North Bend, King County, Washington. CP 381, 413. A road, 428th Avenue S.E., passes between the site and the River. CP 414. The County has designated the land on the River side of the road as the "severe" channel migration hazard area while the Klineburgers' side of the road is designated as the "moderate" channel migration hazard area. CP 489, 411. According to the most recent map prepared by FEMA, both sides of the road, including the road itself and the entire Klineburger lot, are located in the floodway. CP 413.

The lot had been vacant for some years prior to the Klineburgers' acquisition. CP 489. When they bought it, the lot apparently had a mobile

The "channel migration zone" is defined as the area "within which the channel can be reasonably predicted . . . to migrate over time." KCC 21A.06.182.

² The "floodway" is the area of the floodplain where flood depths and velocities may reach hazardous levels. See 44 C.F.R. § 9.4. The technical definition is that it is the area which provides for the discharge of the base flood so the cumulative increase in water surface elevation is no more than one foot. 44 C.F.R. § 59.1; WAC 173-158-030. King County also defines a "zero rise" floodway that is more stringent than the FEMA floodway, but this is not implicated here. The Klineburgers lot is in the FEMA floodway.

home illegally located on it. In response to complaints, King County issued a stop work order requiring the Klineburgers to obtain permits for the mobile home. CP 333. As part of the permitting process, the Klineburgers' consultant, Taylor Engineering, completed an analysis of the property according to the criteria in WAC 173-158-076 and King County Code (KCC) 21A.24.260G (Taylor Report). CP 409-418. These criteria require that the base flood depth not exceed three feet, that the base flood velocity not exceed three feet per second, that a flood warning system be applicable to the property, and that there be no evidence of flood related erosion, as determined by reference to the channel migration zone boundary. WAC 173-158-076(1)(a), (b).

With respect to flood depth, the Taylor Report states:

The base flood depth at the building location is slightly less than 3 feet with the exception of the southeast corner of the building We propose to adjust the grade slightly in that area to achieve compliance with the Base Flood Depth requirements of the code.

CP 409. The accompanying map shows a dotted line crossing the site with the flood depth on one side as greater than three feet and on the other side as less than three feet. CP 416. This line passes through the southeast corner of the proposed building site, clearly showing that flood depths exceed three feet in that area. *Id.* Similarly, the attached schematic view shows the ground level dipping below the three foot line at the southeast

corner of the site and says they will "adjust finish grade as necessary" in that area. CP 418. The only way to "adjust finish grade as necessary" to meet the flood depth criterion is to raise the land surface by piling up dirt or fill in that area. However, as subsequently explained by Ecology, allowing fill to meet the flood depth criterion would render the criterion meaningless because fill in theory could be used to meet any depth. *See* CP 384.

With respect to flood related erosion, the Report states:

The entire site is located in FEMA Zone AE, and a mapped floodway, and the King County GIS (IMAP) shows the property is also located in a <u>moderate</u> channel migration hazard area. Field inspection of the site found no signs of historic erosion, and reports from long-term residents verify this.

CP 409. With respect to velocity, the report calculated a flood velocity less than three feet per second at the site. The report does not mention a flood warning system.

B. Ecology And The County Determined That The Site Does Not Meet The Criteria In WAC 173-158-076 For Residential Development In The Floodway

At the request of the County, Ecology reviewed the Taylor Report pursuant to RCW 86.16.041(4) and the WAC criteria. Ecology wrote a letter to the County dated October 22, 2012 documenting its findings as to each of the WAC criteria. CP 381–82. Ecology agreed with the Taylor

Report regarding the flood velocity. However, Ecology concluded that the other three WAC criteria were not met. With respect to flood depth, Ecology stated that the Taylor Report indicated that the base flood depth would exceed three feet for a portion of the building location. CP 382.

WAC, the site's location in the channel migration zone is "by definition" an indication of flood related erosion. *Id.* Ecology also noted that the Taylor Report failed to establish the existence of a flood warning system applicable to the property. Based on these failures to meet the WAC criteria, Ecology recommended that the Klineburger proposal not be allowed.

Taylor responded to Ecology's letter with another report addressing each of the points raised by Ecology. CP 423–24. With respect to flood depth, this second report contended that the base flood depth was three feet or less everywhere on the site. The report did not, however, explain the previous report's statements to the contrary. The report also contended that the property met the requirements under the King County Code for construction in the moderate channel migration zone. Finally, the report attached various materials printed from King County's website regarding the County's flood warning system. According to these materials, the County has a flood warning system for

most locations in the County that provides two hours notice of flooding.

CP 430 ("In most locations, the warning system provides at least 2 hours lead time before floodwaters reach damaging levels.").

Ecology responded to Taylor's second report with a second letter dated December 18, 2012. CP 383–85. In this letter, Ecology explained that fill is not allowed to meet the depth criterion because otherwise the depth criterion would be rendered meaningless. In theory, fill could be used to meet any desired depth–however, the clear intent of the regulation is to assess flood dangers without using fill. CP 384. Also, allowing fill in the floodway would increase flood depths and velocities elsewhere and is not generally allowed by federal regulations. *See* 44 C.F.R. § 60.3(d)(3).

Regarding erosion, Ecology pointed to the language of WAC 173-158-076(1)(b): "flood erosion will be determined by location of the project site in relationship to channel migration boundaries adopted by the local government." Under this language, Ecology concluded that the location of the site in the mapped channel migration zone was by definition evidence of flood related erosion. Ecology stated that "[t]he inquiry need go no further." CP 384. Ecology also rejected Taylor's appeal to the King County Code provisions regarding the moderate channel migration zone, saying "King County regulatory provisions for

the moderate channel migration zone are not relevant" *Id.* Finally, with respect to the flood warning system, Ecology noted the system did not provide 12 hours notice as generally required by the WAC. For warning systems with less than 12 hours notice, Ecology stated that the WAC requires the County to demonstrate the existence of such a system, which the County had not done. Ecology reiterated its recommendation that the Klineburger proposal not be allowed.

King County's floodplain management section reviewed the Taylor reports and Ecology's letters and concurred in Ecology's conclusions. CP 386–89; *see also* CP 94–96. The County's review added additional details regarding the property's failure to meet the WAC criteria. For example, regarding the channel migration zone, King County stated that the property was at risk due to its presence in the channel migration zone, regardless of the lack of recent evidence of erosion on the ground:

The Taylor report does suggest there is no evidence of recent erosion on the ground and also notes that the site is located in the Moderate Channel Migration Hazard Area (as opposed to the Severe CHMA). However, this is not the standard established under state or county code, which is intended to reflect the long term hazards rather than just what is readily observable from recent flow events. . . In addition, our professional opinion based on observations is that the Middle Fork Snoqualmie River has significant channel migration risk, and in fact King County Rivers is currently undertaking significant technical studies and

plans significant capital investments to address this type of hazard on this river.

CP 387-88.

Regarding the flood warning system, the County indicated that there was no adequate warning system in place because of the lack of a suitable river gage to rely on:

The Middle Fork Snoqualmie River does not have a dedicated flood warning system as there are no river gages far enough upstream along the Middle Fork to provide early warning for residents. . . It is possible for residents to set up individualized flood alerts with the United States Geologic Survey to receive alerts when river flows at any gage of their choosing meet whatever thresholds they want to set. While this would be possible for the Middle Fork at Tanner gage . . . our estimate is that flood flows from that gage would arrive at the subject location in three hours or less (sometimes much less), depending on the nature of the specific flood event.

CP 388; *see also* CP 95–96. Based on these facts, the County floodplain section concurred in Ecology's recommendation not to allow the Klineburgers' residence.

C. The County Also Concluded That The Klineburgers Did Not Meet FEMA's Requirements To Change The Floodway

In addition to seeking permits from the County for the mobile home, the Klineburgers explored the possibility of asking FEMA to remove the property from the floodway. See CP 89–91. Under federal regulations, landowners who believe their property has been incorrectly

designated on the FEMA map may seek a Letter of Map Revision from FEMA to remove their property from the floodway. See 44 C.F.R. § 65.7. The process requires completion of an engineering analysis using a hydraulic model to demonstrate that the existing map is erroneous. Id. Landowners may also seek a Letter of Map Amendment, which is a process under which a property owner can demonstrate that his or her property is not actually inundated by the base flood. See 44 C.F.R. § 65.5(b). However, the Letter of Map Amendment requires the concurrence of the local government. In this case, King County declined to concur because, as discussed above, the County's review indicated the property was properly designated in the floodway and did not meet state regulatory standards for development in the floodway. CP 96. The County explained:

A LOMA [Letter of Map Amendment], when granted, essentially concludes that an existing structure or parcel of land that has not been elevated by fill would not be inundated by the base flood (also known as the 100-year flood), however, we do not believe that to be the case. A LOMA is to be distinguished from a Letter of Map Revision (LOMR), which essentially reaches the conclusion and officially revises the current effective map to show changes to floodplains, floodways or flood elevations. This latter determination requires a demonstration by a qualified engineer that under current conditions your site is not longer in the FEMA floodway.

CP 96; see also CP 89 ("We believe the property has been properly included in the mapped regulatory floodway").

The Klineburgers apparently did not pursue further relief from FEMA. Instead, the Klineburgers argued in the LUPA appeal that the property was not in the floodway due to the presence of 428th Avenue S.E. See CP 490–91. To support this argument, the Klineburgers obtained declarations from their consultant, Taylor Engineering, and from an employee of the Army Corps of Engineers, to the effect that 428th Avenue S.E. acts as a flood control device. See CP 32, 151–52, 462–65. This information, however, unless presented to FEMA consistent with the requirements in federal regulations, is inadequate to change the regulatory floodway. See 44 C.F.R. § 65.7 (specifying information requirements necessary to change the floodway); RCW 86.16.051 (stating that FEMA maps are the basis for state regulation of floodplains).

D. The Hearing Examiner Denied the Klineburgers' Appeal But The Superior Court Reversed

After the various reviews discussed above, the County informed the Klineburgers that they could not get a building permit for the mobile home. As a result, under a code enforcement order issued by the County, the Klineburgers were required to remove the mobile home. CP 333–34. The Klineburgers appealed the code enforcement order to the County

Hearing Examiner. The Hearing Examiner, in his decision, concluded he did not have jurisdiction to review or reverse Ecology's recommendation regarding the WAC criteria and that the County was bound by it. CP 491–92. He also concluded he did not have jurisdiction to revise the regulatory floodway. *Id.* He therefore denied the Klineburgers' appeal.

On appeal to superior court under LUPA, however, the superior court reversed. The court heard no evidence and took no testimony, but entered findings of fact contradicting Ecology's findings regarding the WAC criteria and suggesting that the property is not in the floodway.⁴ Regarding the flood depths, the superior court found that the criterion was met:

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