· .

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

argument at the Superior Court level. 

King County, to the contrary, made the opposite assertion at the 

Superior Court by stating in its Response to Petitioner's Opening Brief 

that "[The Klineburgers] appeal the King County Hearing Examiner's 

final decision on a land use matter, therefore review is granted by the Land 

Use Petition Act (LUPA)." CP 133 (emphasis added). In short, King 

County not only failed to plead or raise this "land use decision" argument 

at the Superior Court level, it instead claimed the opposite position. 
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Washington Rule of Appellate Procedure 2.5 governs an appellate 

court's scope of review and, absent exceptions for jurisdiction, 

constitutional, and FRCP 12(b)(6) motions, states that "The appellate 

court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the 

trial court." RAP 2.5. The language of RAP 2.5 permits this court to refuse 

to review King County's "land use decision" argument, because it was not 

raised in the lower court. 

Washington case-law, furthermore, goes beyond the permissive 

language of RAP 2.5 and establishes "As a general matter, an argument 

neither pleaded nor argued to the trial court cannot be raised for the first 

time on appeal." Washington Fed. Sav. v. Klein, 177 Wn. App. 22, 29, 311 

P.3d 53, 56 (2013). 

Applying both RAP 2.5 and Washington case law to the issue at 

hand, this court should refuse to review King County's first Assignment of 

Error, as it contains an argument neither pleaded nor argued to the 

Superior Court. 

b. Arguing in the Alternative 

In the alternative, should this court decide to review King County's 

first Assignment of Error, the argument nonetheless fails on the merits. It 

is worth again noting King County plainly conceded at the Superior Court 
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level the Superior Court's review of the Hearing Examiner's decision was 

governed by LUPA. CP 133 . 

The Klineburgers appealed to the Superior Court a final decision of 

a land use matter made by the King County Hearing Examiner and, as 

such, the Land Use Petition Act (LUPA) governs the matter. RCW Ch. 

36.70C et seq. 

King County's LUPA argument is essentially that, since DOE is 

not a "local jurisdiction," its decision to deny the Klineburgers a chance to 

apply for a permit cannot be appealable under LUP A. This argument, 

however, misses the mark. The Klineburgers appealed to the Superior 

Court the land use decision made by the King County Hearing Examiner, 

which was a "final determination by a local jurisdiction's body or officer 

with the highest level of authority to make the determination ... " RCW 

36.70C.020(2) . Because Ecology denied the Klineburgers a chance to even 

apply for a permit (which then could have been appealable to another 

agency), the only avenue for a final determination was with the King 

County Hearing Examiner, whose final decision was properly appealed to 

the Superior Court under LUP A. 

3. Response to Appellant King County's Second Assignment of Error 

a. Under RAP 2.5 and clear Washington case-law, this court should refuse 
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to review King County's second assignment of error because the 

arguments within were neither pleaded nor argued at the Superior Court. 

King County similarly failed to raise any of the arguments within 

its second assignment of error at the Superior Court level. For the same 

reasons listed above, this court should refuse to consider such arguments 

on appeal. 

b. Arguing in the Alternative 

King County argues three things in its second assignment of error, 

namely, that "the Klineburgers failed to follow LUPA's procedural 

requirements, did not join Ecology as a party, and lacked a factual record 

of the decision." Opening Brief of Appellant King County, 3. 

King County cites to RCW 36.70C.040 and asserts that, "the 

Klineburgers are charge with joining the decision-maker for the 

challenged land use decision." Id. at 15. Contrary to King County's 

assertion, however, the language ofRCW 3670C.040 does not require the 

petitioner to join the decision maker'. The statute's language, in fact, 

I (2) A land use petition is barred, and the court may not grant review, unless the 
petition is timely filed with the court and timely served on the following persons who 
shall be parties to the review of the land use petition: 

(a) The local jurisdiction, which for purposes of the petition shall be the jurisdiction'S 
corporate entity and not an individual decision maker or department.... 

(d) Each person named in the written decision who filed an appeal to a local 
jurisdiction quasi-judicial decision maker regarding the land use decision at issue, unless 
the person has abandoned the appeal or the person's claims were dismissed before the 
quasi-judicial decision was rendered. Persons who later intervened or joined in the appeal 
are not required to be made parties under this subsection. RCW 36.70C.040 
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mentions the term decision maker to clarify the petitioner must serve the 

local jurisdiction, which "shall be the jurisdiction's corporate entity and 

not an individual decision maker or department." RCW 36.70C.040 

(emphasis added). 

In short, King County's allegation the Klineburgers were required 

to join Ecology is without merit, and should be rejected. 

4. Response to King County's Third Assignment of Error 

In its third assignment of error, King County argues "consideration 

of Ecology's decision violated the doctrines of primary jurisdiction and 

exhaustion of remedies." Opening Brief of Appellant King County, 3. 

a. The Primary Jurisdiction Argument 

King County's argument may be summarized as follows: (1) 

Ecology's October 22, 2012 letter was a decision appealable to the 

Pollution Control Hearings Board (PCHB) under RCW 86.16.110, and (2) 

the Klineburgers' failure to appeal to the PCHB means review of their 

case by this court violates the doctrine of primary jurisdiction. 

The Washington Supreme Court has explained that the doctrine of 

primary jurisdiction "applies where a claim is originally cognizable in the 

courts, and comes into play whenever enforcement of the claim requires 

the resolution of issues which, under a regulatory scheme, have been 
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placed within the special competence of an administrative body; in such a 

case the judicial process is suspended pending referral of such issues to the 

administrative body for its views." In re Real Estate Brokerage Antitrust 

Litig., 95 Wn. 2d 297,302,622 P.2d 1185, 1188 (1980). 

King County's first point of contention, that Ecology's letter was a 

decision appealable to the PCHB, is clearly erroneous when examined in 

light of the language ofRCW 43.21B.310(4), which explains that "[a]n 

appealable decision [under RCW 86.16.110] or order shall be identified as 

such and shall contain a conspicuous notice to the recipient that it may be 

appealed only by filing an appeal with the hearings board and serving it on 

the issuing agency within thirty days of the date of receipt." RCW 

43.21B.31O(4) (emphasis added). Ecology's letter was an "advisory 

recommendation," not a decision. 

An examination of Ecology's October 22,2012 letter reveals 

Ecology's letter is completely devoid of any identification of an 

appealable decision, nor does it contain a conspicuous notice to the 

Klineburgers on how it may be appealed. CP 381-382. The sole direction 

for future action given by the letter reads, "If you have further questions, 

please contact me at.. .. " Id. 

Ecology's letter, in short, is not an appealable decision under RCW 

86.16.110, and therefore the Klineburgers could not have appealed to the 
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PCHB. The Klineburgers, instead, were left only one course: to challenge 

Ecology's letter through the Hearing Examiner in order to request they be 

allowed to apply for a permit, so that they could receive an appealable 

decision, as opposed to the Ecology's letter, which denied them the chance 

to apply for a permit and did not contain notice on how to appeal. 

The Superior court, therefore, did not violate the doctrine of 

primary jurisdiction when it reviewed this case. The case at hand is clearly 

distinguishable from the case-law cited by King County. For example, 

Dioxin/Organochlorine Ctr. v. Dep't of Ecology is clearly distinguished 

from the Klineburgers case because the appellants in Dixon were 

challenging National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permits (an 

appealable decision to the PCHB), whereas the Klineburgers have 

challenged an advisory recommendation letter denying them the 

opportunity to apply for a permit (not an appealable decision to the 

PCHB). Dioxin/Organochlorine etr. v. Dep't of Ecology, 119 Wn. 2d 761, 

837 P.2d 1007 (1992) 

4. Response to King County's Fourth Assignment of Error 

King County, in its fourth assignment of error, argues that the 

"Superior Court erred in concluding that the Klineburgers met their burden 

under RCW 36.70C.130(1) of establishing that Ecology's decision was a 

clearly erroneous application of the law to the facts. This final assignment 
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of error seems to challenge the merits of the Superior Court judge's 

decision. We have addressed this challenge to the merits in our Part I: 

Response to Ecology's Brief and, for the same reasons, believe that the 

decision of the Superior Court judge, in this regards, should be affirmed. 

IV. CROSS APPEAL ARGUMENT 

1. Introduction: 

This flood way case in the moderate migration zone does not 

compare to the Oso landslide in any regard. At issue in this case is 

whether a homeowner should be allowed to build a foundation under his 

mobile home when the lot is located in the moderate migration zone of the 

Middle Fork of Snoqualmie Floodway. In the Middle Fork and the North 

Fork of Snoqualmie, there have been dozens of homes permitted in the last 

14 years, and both Bill Taylor, the Klineburgers' engineer and Jim Kemp, 

the designer, testified they have never been denied a building permit for a 

residential structure in the Middle or North Fork ofthe Snoqualmie. 

The neighbor to the north of the Klineburgers, on the same side of 

the road, was allowed to demolish and reconstruct a house in 

approximately 2005, and the neighbor across the street, Judith Stoddard, 
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submitted photos of the path through which she was allowed to construct 

and remain in her house even though it is located in the severe migration 

zone of the floodway. 

The Klineburgers attempted to apply to FEMA for a Letter of Map 

Amendment (hereinafter LOMA). Bill Taylor indicated in his declaration 

he has successfully pursued two of these LOMAs, where in fact the 

official floodway map is not revised or redrawn, rather, a letter is issued 

for that particular property saying that it should not be in the floodway and 

amounts to basically an asterisk on the floodway map. CP 43-44. The 

Klineburger's attempt to secure a LOMA was thwarted by King County's 

refusal to concur. The county fell back on its original position, which was 

the Klineburgers could not apply for a permit because their property was 

in the floodway. This refusal to concur effectively ended the process for 

the Klineburgers because FEMA would not go forward to the next step 

without King County's concurrence. 

The Superior Court's decision clearly denied the Klineburger's 

request a determination be made the Klineburger's lot should not be 

considered in the floodway, even though the Superior Court judge 

indicated, through a handwritten paragraph on the last page of his 

decision, he had given weight to the Hearing Examiner's reference to the 
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fact the Klinburgers had made a good case 428th Ave SE acts as a dyke 

protecting the K1ineburgers' lot from floodwaters. CP 159. 

2. Assignment of Errors 

The Superior Court erred in not ruling the K1ineburgers had 

successfully demonstrated their lot should not be considered in the 

flood way and the Klineburgers be allowed to apply for a building permit 

without any regard to floodway regulations, because the lot was not in the 

floodway. 

3. Authority and Argument: 

The decision on whether this lot should be removed from the 

floodway map is a factual matter. 

a. The Consensus of the Neighborhood is Floodwaters Have Never 

Reached the Klineburgers' Lot. 

RCW 90.58.30(2) (b) defines a "floodway," however, the last 

sentence in this section provides "Regardless of the method used to 

identify the floodway, the floodway shall not include those lands that can 

reasonably be expected to be protected from flood waters by flood control 

devices maintained by or maintained under license from the federal 

government, the state, or a political subdivision of the state." RCW 

90.58.30(2) (b). 
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Judith Stoddard testified extensively before the Hearing Examiner 

and by declaration, that in the 53 years she has lived across the street from 

the Klineburgers, she has never observed any floodwater on the 

Klineburger's lot. CP 269-270. The first flood she observed was in 1959, 

right after she moved to her property, and there was another flood in 2006. 

CP 271, lines 1-7.The Klineburger lot was visible from her house, and she 

merely needed to look out the window to see it. Id. lines 4-12. 

The property to the north of the Klineburgers, on the 

Klineburger's side of the street, was demolished and a replacement house 

was constructed in 2005. CP 405-406. The house to the north experienced 

flooding in 2006 and 2008, to the depth of several feet deep. CP 405 . Ms. 

Stoddard had an additional eight people review her declaration and sign it 

as being accurate, regarding the floodwaters never having entered the 

Klineburger lot. CP 407. These eight neighbors have lived in the area for 

time periods ranging from beginning in 1936 - 1999. Id. 

b. The Core of Engineers Declared 428th Ave. SE functioned as a 

Flood Control Device, Effectively Diking the Klineburger lot 

Douglas Webber, chief of the emergency management branch, 

Seattle District Army Core of Engineers, was contacted by the 

Klineburgers to review the studies conducted on the property and provide 

an assessment of the data. The Core of Engineers reviewed the 
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engineering document prepared by Taylor Engineering and historical data 

provided by Mr. Klineburger. CP 399. Along with the Seattle District 

Army Core of Engineers Hydraulic Engineering Section, the documents 

were reviewed by Mr. Webber. The conclusion was the Taylor 

Engineering documents appeared to be sound. Id. 

The Core of Engineers declared, for a range of flood events, 428th 

Ave. SE functions as a flood control structure and provides protection to 

the Klineburger property from floodwaters, velocity, and erosion. Id. 

(emphasis added) 

This means the Taylor Engineering study about flood depth is 

correct as far as the Core of Engineers is concerned and the issue of fill, 

which the Department of Ecology misinterpreted the report to be 

requiring, is not an issue in the Core of Engineers Determination. The 

survey information submitted by the Taylor Engineering report shows the 

depth ofthe comers ofthe house, which were calculated three times by a 

surveyor in order to counter the Department of Ecology's reluctance to 

accept these figures. CP 292, lines 1-5. 

c. No Evidence of Flood Related Erosion was found by Either Taylor 

Engineering or the Core of Engineers. 

The Core of Engineers also accepted the Taylor Engineering Study 

Finding about no evidence of flood-related erosion existing. This 
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conclusion was based primarily on a site inspection by Mr. Webber to the 

Klineburger's property, as explained in the email on February 14,2013. 

CP 401. Mr. Webber declared the Klineburger property should not be in 

the floodway. Id. Pictures of flood and building plans on file with King 

County for 428th Ave SE qualify it as a flood control device. 

d. Pictures of Flooding in the Area and Building Plans on File with 

King County on 428th Ave SE qualify it as a Flood Control Device. 

Mr. Klineburger obtained photographs from various flood events 

on the Snoqualmie River, which were submitted at the Hearing. Mr. 

Klineburger submitted photographs of various flood events, wherein his 

property was indicated by a red square on the photos. CP 454-458; See 

also CP 312, lines 13-22; CP 313 lines 1-19. None of these flood events 

resulted in any floodwater on the Klineburger's lot. 

Mr. Klineburger also secured drawings of when 428th Ave SE was 

going to be straightened and repaired, which indicate there was three feet 

of rip rap supporting the road mainly to prevent the road from being 

washed out by flood events. CP 484 (very small print on the exhibit). The 

small print reads "3' 0" Heavy Loose." Id. 

The function of 428th Ave SE as a berm is further supported by the 

technical memorandum from Bill Taylor on February 15,2013, stating his 
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survey showed the crown of the road in front of the Klineburger property 

is two and a half feet above the surrounding floodplain. CP 464. Mr. 

Taylor further concluded the transportation infrastructure of the road

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